
CITY OF LEAVENWORTH 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

COMMISSION CHAMBERS, CITY HALL 
100 N. 5th Street 

Leavenworth, KS  66048 
 

REGULAR SESSION 
Monday, May 1, 2017 

7:00 p.m. 
 

CALL TO ORDER: 

1. Roll Call/Establish Quorum 

2. Approval of Minutes:  March 6, 2017  
 
 
OLD BUSINESS: 
 

None 

 
NEW BUSINESS: 
 

1. 2017-01 SUB – RIVER VIEW REPLAT 

Consider a request for a four lot final plat for the property encompassing 2 Limit Street 
Court and 16 Limit Street Court, owned by Mike Greenamyre and David Hogg.  The 
subject property currently includes seven lots and two homes.  The replat is being 
requested to better align property lines with existing ownership and to provide for a third 
buildable lot at the site. 

2. 2017-02 REZ – 320 S 7th STREET 

Conduct a public hearing for Case No. 2017-02 REZ, 320 S 7th Street.  The applicant is 
requesting a rezoning of their property from General Business District (GBD) to 
Residential Mixed Use (RMX).  The property, owned by Greenamyre Rentals, Inc., is .45 
acres in size and is occupied by the former Leavenworth Terminal Railway and Bridge 
Company (LTRBC) building.  The building was constructed in 1893 and is listed on the 
National Register of Historic Places, and has formerly housed a number of various 
commercial operations.  The rezoning request is being made in order to convert the 
structure into five apartment units.   

 

 



3. 2017-03 REZ – 4th & PAWNEE STREET 

Conduct a public hearing for Case No. 2017-03 REZ, 4th & Pawnee Street.  The applicant is 
requesting a rezoning of their property located at the northwest corner of 4th & Pawnee 
Streets from Planned Unit Development (PUD) and High Density Single Family Residential 
District (R1-6) to General Business District (GBD).  The property, owned by John Ferguson, 
is 1.8 acres in size and is occupied by a single family home.  The site is adjacent to the 
existing Marriott Fairfield Inn & Suites and the rezoning is being requested for the 
development of a second hotel on the site.   

 
OTHER BUSINESS: 

 
 

ADJOURN: 



 

 Leavenworth Planning Commission  1 March 6, 2017 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CALL TO ORDER: 
 

Commissioners Present Commissioners Absent    
Jay Byrne Linda Bohnsack 

Mike Burke  

John Karrasch  

Pat McGlinn  
Claude Wiedower City Staff Present 
Camalla Leonhard Julie Hurley 

 Michelle Baragary 

 
 
Chairman Byrne called the meeting to order at 7:03pm and noted a quorum was present.    

       
Approval of Minutes:  February 6, 2017 
                
Chairman Byrne asked for comments or a motion on the minutes presented for approval:  February 6, 2017.  Mr. 
Karrasch moved to accept the minutes as presented, seconded by Ms. Leonhard.  The minutes were approved by a 
unanimous vote of 6-0.           
 
 

OLD BUSINESS: 
 

None 
 
NEW BUSINESS: 

1. 2016-23 SUP – 2622 State Street 

Conduct a public hearing for Case No. 2016-23 SUP – 2622 State Street.  Justin Anderson, on behalf 
of Selective Site Consultants and the subject property owner, is requesting a Special Use Permit to 
allow a 170 foot monopole type communication tower and related ground equipment. 
 

Chairman Byrne called for the staff report.   
 
City Planner Julie Hurley stated the subject property is zoned R-MF, Residential Multi Family, and is 
occupied by the residential facility known as State Street Housing.  The proposed 170’ tower is 
commissioned by T-Mobile to serve customers in the Leavenworth area, with space available for 2 
additional carriers to co-locate.  The maximum height of a tower and antenna when two or more antennas 

CITY OF LEAVENWORTH PLANNING COMMISSION 
COMMISSION CHAMBERS, CITY HALL 

100 N 5th Street, Leavenworth, Kansas 66048 

REGULAR SESSION 
Monday, March 6, 2017 

7:00 PM 
 



 

 Leavenworth Planning Commission  2 March 6, 2017 

 

are co0located by two or more companies on a single tower is 170’.  The proposal includes a 50’ x 50’ 
fenced area to enclose the tower and related ground equipment.  Access will be provided by a paved 12’ 
wide access drive off the existing parking lot serving the residential building. 
 
There is no lighting proposed on the tower unless required by the Federal Aviation Administration, and no 
signage is proposed except for safety and identification as required by the Federal Communications 
Commission.  The 50’ x 50’ fenced enclosure will be screened from the east and south by landscaping as 
requested by staff.  Sufficient existing foliage exists to the north and west to screen the enclosure from 
adjoining properties.  
 
The Development Regulations required that for each foot of tower height there shall be a minimum of 1.05 
foot of setback from any property line.  This would require a minimum 178’ setback from all property lines 
for the proposed tower, which is provided. 
 
COMMISSION FINDINGS 
 
The Commission may recommend issuance of a special use permit whenever it finds that: 

1. The proposed special use complies with all applicable provisions of this ordinance. 
 

Staff believes that this application complies with all provisions of City of Leavenworth Development 
Regulations. 

 
2. The proposed special use at the specified location will contribute to and promote the economic 

development, welfare or convenience of the public. 
 

A communication tower will provide numerous benefits to the economic development, welfare and 
convenience of the public through improved cellular communication capabilities. 

 
3. The special use will not cause substantial injury to the value of other property in the neighborhood 

in which it is located. 
 

Staff does not believe that the proposed communication tower will cause substantial injury to the 
value of other property in the neighborhood. 

 
4. The location and size of the special use, the nature and intensity of the operation involved in or 

conducted in connection with it, and the location of the site with respect to streets giving access to 
it are such that the special use will not dominate the immediate neighborhood so as to prevent 
development and use of neighboring property in accordance with the applicable zoning district 
regulations. 

 
The location and size of the proposed communication tower are such that it will not dominate the 
neighborhood and prevent development and use of neighboring property.  The proposed tower will 
be situated to maximize its’ distance from the impact on any adjoining single family residences.  
The subject property is bordered by a creek to the west, with dense tree growth to the north and 
west of the subject communications tower, minimizing it’s visibility from surrounding properties. 

 
Ms. Hurley stated staff recommends approval of the Special Use Permit request based on the analysis and 
findings included herein. 
 



 

 Leavenworth Planning Commission  3 March 6, 2017 

 

Chairman Byrne called for questions and comments from board members. 
 
Ms. Leonhard asked if the City mandates the time period for completion of communication towers.  Ms. 
Hurley stated there are time restrictions with the issuance of building permits but not in conjunction with 
the special use permit.   
 
Mr. McGlinn asked if there is a requirement to notify the nearby neighborhood.  Ms. Hurley stated all 
properties within 200’ of the subject property are notified.  She continued by stating the City received a 
few questions from neighbors but did not receive any complaints or written comments. 
 
Mr. Byrne asked is the proposed location is 170’ from the apartment building.  Ms. Hurley stated it is 109’ 
from the existing building.  Mr. Byrne further questioned the setback requirement from other properties 
but there is no required setback from the apartment building.  Ms. Hurley responded since the property 
owner submitted the application, they are taking their own structures on the property into account.  The 
setback requirement is to protect surrounding property owners who do not have an interest or stake in 
special use. 
 
Mr. Wiedower mentioned the communication tower that the Planning Commission approved on October 
13, 2016 was also T-Mobile.  He continued by asking if T-Mobile needs this newly proposed tower to 
increase their coverage.  Ms. Hurley stated according to new state statutes, the need for a particular 
location is not something cities can take into consideration or request information on. 
 
Chairman Byrne requested staff briefly review the restrictions. 
 
Ms. Hurley stated the Kansas Legislature adopted a new bill which established 18 restrictions on 
jurisdictions regarding what information can or cannot be required and considered during the approval 
process. 

1. The City cannot require an applicant to submit information about, or evaluate an applicant’s 
business decisions with respect to the applicant’s designed service, customer demand for service 
or quality of the applicant’s service to or from a particular site. 

2. The City cannot require information that concerns the specific need for the wireless support 
structure. 

3. The City cannot evaluate an application based on the availability of other potential locations for 
the placement of the wireless structure. 

4. The City cannot dictate the type of equipment or technology to be used by the applicant. 
5. The City cannot require the removal of existing wireless structures as a condition for approval 

(may still regulate removal of abandoned facilities). 
6. The City cannot impose any restrictions at or near civilian airports. 
7. The City cannot establish or enforce regulations for radio frequency signal strength. 
8. The City cannot impose any surety requirements, including bonds, escrow deposits, letters of 

credit or any other type of financial surety. 
9. The City cannot discriminate or create a preference on the basis of the ownership of any property 

or structure. 
10. The City cannot impose any unreasonable requirements or obligations regarding the presentation, 

appearance or function of the wireless facility. 
11. The City cannot impose any requirements that an applicant purchase, subscribe to or use any 

facilities or services owned, provided or operated by an entity in which the City has a competitive, 
economic, financial or other interest. 



 

 Leavenworth Planning Commission  4 March 6, 2017 

 

12. The City cannot impose environmental testing, sampling or monitoring requirements that exceed 
federal law. 

13. The City cannot impose any compliance measures for radio frequency emissions or exposure from 
wireless facilities that exceed the requirements of the FCC. 

14. The City cannot reject an application based on perceived or alleged environmental effects of radio 
frequency emissions or exposure. 

15. The City cannot prohibit the use of emergency power systems that comply with federal and state 
environmental requirements and do not violate local health and safety requirements and noise 
control ordinances, but no local regulations may prevent the provision of emergency power during 
an actual emergency. 

16. The City cannot condition or require the approval of an application based on the applicant’s 
agreement to permit wireless facilities provided or operated by an authority to be placed at or 
collocated with the applicants support structure. 

17. The City cannot impose a greater setback or fall-zone requirement for a wireless support structure 
than for other types of commercial structure of a similar size. 

18. The City cannot limit the duration of an approval for less than 10 years. 
 
With no further questions regarding the staff report, Chairman Byrne opened the public hearing. 
 
Justin Anderson, 9900 W. 109th St, Ste 300, Overland Park, KS 66210.  Mr. Anderson is with SSC and 
appears on behalf of Skyway Towers, the developer, and T-Mobile.  Mr. Anderson stated this site is to 
bolster T-Mobile’s coverage and capacity.  The communication tower is collocatable.  The site will be 
located on the northwest part of the property, which is screened by mature trees.   
 
Mr. McGlinn asked if this will improve the Sprint coverage in Leavenworth.  Mr. Anderson stated this site 
will only improve Sprint’s coverage if Sprint collocates on it.   
 
Mr. Byrne asked what access will be used for the installation of the tower.  Mr. Anderson responded the 
existing access off State Street will be used, then they will go north off the existing parking lot 
approximately 130’.  He further stated there will be landscaping on the south and east side of the 
compound. 
 
Mr. Burke asked what the timeframe for installation.  Mr. Anderson stated construction time is 3-4 weeks; 
however, a tower cannot be stacked if the wind is over 19 mph, which would increase construction time.   
 
Mr. Wiedower asked if there is ever a situation when a tower would need to be higher than 170’.  Mr. 
Anderson replied there have been sites like that but it does not occur often.  Ms. Hurley stated maximum 
height allowed is 170’ according to the Development Regulations.  However, if the applicant would ever 
want to increase in the future, the applicant would need to apply for another special use permit requesting 
a variance to increase the height above 170’.   
 
Mr. Byrne asked if the City is allowed to request the tower be masked, i.e. to look like a tree.  Ms. Hurley 
stated one of the new state regulations restricts cities from imposing any unreasonable requirements or 
obligations regarding the appearance of the tower.  She further stated the City could request it but cannot 
base its’ approval on it. 
 
With no further questions or comments, Chairman Byrne closed the public hearing and called for any 
additional questions from the commissioners.   
 



 

 Leavenworth Planning Commission  5 March 6, 2017 

 

With no further discussion, Chairman Byrne called for a motion.  Mr. McGlinn moved to recommend 
approval of the Special Use Permit to the City Commission based upon findings as stated.  The motion was 
seconded by Mr. Wiedower and passed by a unanimous vote 6-0. 
 
With no further business the meeting was adjourned at 7:24pm. 
 
 
 
JH/mb 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 




















































